1987

# Jerry Grandson v. Suzanne Dandoy : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This action is an appeal from a decision rendered by the Seventh Judicial District Court on a Petition For Review of a Final Determination made by the Director of the Utah Department of Health on a medicaid application. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to U.C.A. §78-2a-3(2)(a).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether federal and state statutes and regulations mandate that a State Medical Assistance Program may not include the income of any relative, except that of a parent or spouse, in the calculation of a child applicant's eligibility for Medicaid benefits.
2. Whether federal law and regulation are violated by any Medicaid eligibility calculation which deems Social Security benefits which are paid through a representative payee to be available to any person but the specific beneficiary.

DETERMINATIVE LAW

42 U.S.C. §1396a(a) (17(D) :

A State plan for medical assistance must... include reasonable standards (which shall be comparable for all groups and may, in accordance with standards prescribed by the Secretary, differ with respect to income levels, but only in the case of applicants or recipients of assistance under the plan who are not receiving aid or assistance under any plan of the State approved under title I, X, XIV, or XVI, or part A of title IV, [42 USCS §§301 et seq., 1201 et seq., 1351 et seq., 1381 et seq.], based on the variations between shelter costs in urban areas and in rural areas) for determining eligibility for and the extent of medical assistance under the plan which... do not take into account the financial responsibility of any individual for any applicant or recipient of assistance under the plan unless such applicant or recipient is such individual's spouse or such individual's child who is under 21 or (with respect to States eligible to participate in the State program established under title XVI [42 USCS §§1381 et seq.]), is blind or permanently and totally disabled, or is blind or disabled as defined in section 1614 [42 USCS § 1382c] (with respect to States which are not eligible to participate in such program); and provide for flexibility in the application of such standards with respect to income by taking into account, except to the extent prescribed by the Secretary, the costs (whether in the form of insurance premiums or otherwise) incurred for medical care or for any other type of remedial care recognized under State law;...

42 U.S.C. §603(a) (38) :

A State plan for aid and service to needy families with children must- ...

(38) provide that in making the determination under paragraph (7) with respect to a depen-

dent child and applying paragraph (8), the State agency shall (except as otherwise provided in this part [42 USCS §§601 et seq.]) include-

- (A) any parent of such child, and
- (B) any brother or sister of such child, if such brother or sister meets the conditions described in clauses (1) and (20) of section 406(a) [42 USCS §606(a)], if such parent, brother, or sister is living in the same home as the dependent child, and any income of or available for such parent, brother, or sister shall be included in making such determination and applying such paragraph with respect to the family (notwithstanding section 205(j) [42 USCS §405(j)], in the case of benefits provided under title II [42 USCS §§401 et seq.]); and

**42 C.F.R. §435.113:**

The agency must provide Medicaid to individuals who would be eligible for AFDC except for an eligibility requirement used in that program that is specifically prohibited under title XIX.

**42 C.F.R. §435.692(a)(1) and (2):**

- (a) Except for a spouse of an individual or a parent for a child who is under age 21 or blind or disabled, the agency must not-
  - (1) Consider income and resources of any relative available to an individual; nor
  - (2) Collect reimbursement from any relative for amounts paid by the agency for services provided to an individual.

**U.C.A. §26-18-3(2):**

The department [Department of Health] shall be the single state agency responsible for the administration of the medicaid program in connection with the United States Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to Title



XIX of the Social Security Act. (2) The department shall develop implementing policy in conformity with the requirements of Title XIX and with regulations adopted pursuant thereto by the federal agency.

Utah DSS-APA Manual, Vol. III, §327.32:

1. Count the income of the parents and the child when the child lives with his parents. This includes children in non-AFDC foster care that have been placed in their own homes (see Sec. 213.5).

For B, and D cases, a child is considered living with his parents until the month after he moves.

For F and C cases, a child is considered living with his parents while temporarily absent from the home, such as for school, vacation, summer employment, medical treatment, etc.

2. Count only the income of the child, including support payments made by the parents, in these situations:

F and C Cases - when the child is living away from his parents and it is not temporary.

- a. This includes a child in Foster Care that has not been placed back in his own home (see Sec. 213.5).
- b. This includes a child in AFDC foster care, no matter where he lives.
- c. This includes a child living with a specified relative, and it is not temporary.

B and D cases - when the child lives separate from his parents - for any reason. A child is considered living with his parents until the month after he moves.

**42 U.S.C. §405(j)(1) and (2):**

(1) When it appears to the Secretary that the interest of an applicant entitled to a payment would be served thereby, certification of payment may be made, regardless of the legal competency or incompetency of the individual entitled thereto, either for direct payment to such applicant, or for his use and benefit to a relative or some other person.

(2) Any certification made under paragraph (1) for payment to a person other than the individual entitled to such payment must be made on the basis of an investigation, carried out either prior to such certification or within forty-five days after such certification, and on the basis of adequate evidence that such certification is in the interest of the individual entitled to such payment (as determined by the Secretary in regulations). The Secretary shall insure that such certification are adequately reviewed.

**42 U.S.C. §408(e):**

Whoever... (e) having made application to receive payment under this title for the use and benefit of another and having received such a payment, knowingly and willfully converts such a payment, or any party thereof, to a use other than for the use and benefit of such other person; ... shall be guilty of a felony and upon conviction thereof shall be fined not more than \$5000 or imprisoned for not more than five years, or both.

**42 U.S.C. §1302:**

The Secretary of the Treasury, the Secretary of Labor, and the Secretary of Health and Human Services, respectively, shall make and publish such rules and regulations, not inconsistent with this Act, as may be necessary to the efficient administration of the functions with which each is charged under this Act.

20 C.F.R. §404.2035(a):

A representative payee has a responsibility to-

(a) Use the payments he or she receives only for the use and benefit of the beneficiary in a manner and for the purposes he or she determines, under the guidelines in this subpart, to be in the best interests of the beneficiary;....

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 30, 1986, a Petition For Review was filed in the Seventh Judicial District Court requesting that the Final Determination of the Director of the Utah Department of Health, which denied Medicaid benefits to Jerry Grandson, be reversed as arbitrary and capricious for having ignored federal and state law and regulations. (C.T. pp. 1-17) On June 23, 1986, the Director moved to dismiss the Petition. (C.T. pp. 18-19) On July 7, 1986, the District Court entered an Order denying the Motion To Dismiss. (C.T. pp. 38-39)

On July 14, 1986, the Director filed an Answer to the Petition (C.T. pp. 40-42) and a Certification Of Transcript Papers, And Documents. (C.T. pp. 47-79.) On August 13, 1986 Jerry Grandson filed a Memorandum Of Points and Authorities In Support Of Petition For Review. (C.T. pp 80-89.) On September 16, 1986, the Director filed her Reply Memorandum. (C.T. pp. 100 - 129.)

On September 12, 1986, the Director moved for leave to file a third-party complaint against the Secretary of the Unit

States Department of Health and Human Services. (C.T. pp. 90-91.) On November 11, 1986, the District Court denied the motion. (C.T. pp. 169-170.)

On February 12, 1987, Jerry Grandson requested a ruling on the Petition (C.T. pp. 191-192) On February 23, 1986, the District Court entered a Memorandum Decision denying the Petition to reverse the Final Determination of the Director. (C.T. pp. 193-194.) The Decision was formalized in the Order of March 30, 1987. (C.T. pp. 201-202.)

On March 23, 1986, Jerry Grandson filed a Notice Of Appeal. (C.T. pp. 196-197.)

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1985, Jerry Grandson applied for medical assistance under the state Medicaid plan. Jerry Grandson's household is composed of 5 members: his mother, sister, two nieces adopted by his mother, and himself. (C.T. pp. 70-71) As one or both parents of these children is deceased, each child in the household is a recipient of Social Security Survivor benefits. Jerry Grandson's personal benefits total about \$158.00 per month. (C.T. p. 69)

On July 25, 1985, the District VII (B) Office of Community Operations denied Jerry Grandson's application on the ground that the total income available to meet Petitioner's medical obligation is in excess of \$666.00: the basic maintenance standard for a household of five. (C.T. p.75.) In arriving at

this determination, the District Office deemed as available income both Jerry Grandson's Social Security benefits and also those Social Security benefits received by his sister and two nieces. (C.T. p. 74)

Jerry Grandson submitted a written appeal of this denial to Administrative Hearing Officer Neal Bernson to contest the decision by the District Office. (C.T. pp. 62-68, 76-77) The appeal argued that deeming of benefits belonging to Jerry Grandson's sister and nieces as being available as income to him violated federal law and regulations which preclude such deeming. The appeal also pointed out that such deeming was inconsistent with Utah Assistance Payments Administration regulations. Finally, the Hearing Officer was advised that, because the Social Security Survivor's benefits were paid to Nellie Grandson, Jerry's mother, as a representative payee, any use of benefits received for his nieces and sister to pay for Jerry's medical bills would be contrary to federal law.

On December 20, 1985, the administrative Hearing Officer, although refusing to address any legal arguments raised by Jerry Grandson (C.T. p.60.), sustained the District Office's decision. (C.T. pp. 53-60.) The Recommended Decision of the administrative Hearing Officer was adopted by the Director of the Utah Department of Health, Suzanne Dandoy, in her Final Determination dated March 14, 1986. (C.T. pp. 48-52.)

The Director's Final Determination addressed the legal

issues previously ignored by the hearing officer. The Determination stated that the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984 ("DEFRA", below), P.L. 98-369, §2640, required the Department of Health to count the income of Jerry Grandson's siblings as being available to him in determining his medicaid eligibility. (C.T. p. 51.) However, in explaining what she termed "the whole law", the Director did not deal with the problem that DEFRA only amended Title IV of the Social Security Act, and left unchanged the provision against deeming of relatives' income found in Title XIX (Medicaid) of the Act. In addressing the problem of representative payee status, the Director again relied on DEFRA, pointing out that the changes made in the Title IV (Aid To Families With Dependent Children) eligibility statute also abolished the representative payee bar to deeming sibling income as available in AFDC cases. (C.T. pp. 50-51.) However, other than to state that "the whole law" mandated the same abolition for Medicaid cases, the Director did not explain how DEFRA had altered Title XIX, which Congress did not amend.

On May 30, 1986, Jerry Grandson filed a Petition For Review in the Seventh Judicial District Court which alleged that the decision of the Department of Health concerning calculation of the income available to a child Medicaid applicant violated certain federal and state laws and regulations, and was therefore arbitrary and capricious. (C.T. pp. 1-3.) On February 23, 1987, the District Court entered a Memorandum Decision holding that the

income calculation was correct under existing law and regulation and denying the petition to alter the Final Determination of the Department of Health. (C.T. pp. 193-195.)

Specifically, the Court stated..."that no particular law or regulation should be isolated and treated as the final word in a Medicaid eligibility determination, and thereby sustaining the Director's action of utilizing the DEFRA amendments to AFDC eligibility to alter eligibility under the unamended Medicaid statutes and regulations. An Order to this effect was signed and entered on March 30, 1987. (C.T. pp. 201-202.)

Jerry Grandson filed his Notice Of Appeal on March 2, 1987. (C.T. pp. 196-197.)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellant, Jerry Grandson, applied for Medicaid benefits, under Title XIX of the Social Security Act. The Medicaid program is administered by the Utah Department of Health. In determining Jerry's eligibility, the Social Security Survivor's benefits income received by Jerry, two nieces, and his sister were deemed to be available to him as resources to cover his medical expenses. This totalling of income rendered Jerry ineligible for Medicaid benefits. The Director of the Department of Health upheld this determination by stating that the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984 (DEFRA) mandated that the income of survivors be counted in both AFDC cases, under Title IV of the Social Security Act.

Security Act, and in Medicaid cases under Title XIX of the Act. This determination ignored an unamended section of Title XIX (42 U.S.C. §1396a(a)(17)(D)) which bars state agencies from counting sibling income in Medicaid eligibility determinations. The Director's decision also ignored federal regulations (42 C.F.R. §§ 435.113 and 435.602(a)(1) and (2)) which bar the counting of sibling income in Medicaid eligibility determinations. Finally, by ignoring these federal statutes and regulations, the Director circumvented Utah law (U.C.A. §26-18-3(2)) which requires that the Department of Health obey federal law in the administration of its Medicaid program. The Director's decision represents a sweeping and unauthorized expansion of amendments to Title IV of the Social Security Act into an alteration of Title XIX eligibility law. In making this expansion, unambiguous federal law barring the counting of sibling income was ignored, and the Director's determination was therefore arbitrary and capricious.

The Medicaid eligibility determination upheld by the Director essentially held that the Social Security Survivor's benefits of Jerry Grandson's siblings were available to meet his financial obligations for medical treatment. These benefits are paid to Nellie Grandson, Jerry's mother, as a representative payee. Federal law and regulation (42 U.S.C. §405(j)(1) and (2), 42 U.S.C. §408(e), and 20 C.F.R. §404.2035(a)) make it unlawful for a representative payee to use monies received by them for the obligations of any person other than the actual beneficiary. The



Director's determination thus forces the representative payee to violate federal law. The Director relies on DEFRA to justify this result, noting that the bar was waived in Title IV eligibility determinations. But DEFRA has no effect on Title XIX (Medicaid) eligibility standards, and the bar against allowing representative payments to be used for persons other than the actual beneficiary has not been lifted in Medicaid cases.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. FEDERAL AND STATE STATUTES AND REGULATIONS DICTATE THAT THE INCOME OF SIBLINGS AND OTHER RELATIVES, EXCEPT THAT OF PARENTS OR SPOUSE, MAY NEVER BE DEEMED AS AVAILABLE TO A CHILD-APPLICANT FOR MEDICAID BENEFITS IN A DETERMINATION OF THE APPLICANT'S ELIGIBILITY.

Section 1396a(a)(17)(D), of Title 42, United State Code, mandates that a State plan for medical assistance, in determining the eligibility of an individual for Medicaid benefits under Title XIX of the Social Security Act,

...[may] not take into account the financial responsibility of any individual for any applicant or recipient of assistance under the plan unless such applicant or recipient is such individual's spouse or such individual's child.... (Emphasis supplied)

This statute has never been amended by Congress.

Consistent with the terms of this statute, the Code Federal Regulations, at §435.602(a)(1) and (2), of Title 42, (a section entitled "Limitation on the financial responsibility

relatives") states

[e]xcept for a spouse of an individual or a parent for a child who is under age 21... the agency must not - (1) consider income and resources of any relative available to an individual; nor (2) collect reimbursement from any relative for amounts paid... to any individual. (Emphasis supplied.)

This regulation is clearly set out to enforce the limitation of 42 U.S.C. §1396a(a)(17)(D). The regulation has never been altered by the Department of Health and Human Services.

Utah is obliged to follow federal law and regulation in its implementation of the medical assistance program. U.C.A. §26-18-3(2). Utah's Department of Health has codified its eligibility rules for the Medicaid program in its DSS-APA Manual. Volume III, §327.32 of the Manual instructs eligibility workers that, in determining the income of an unemancipated child, to only "[c]ount the income of the parents and the child." This provision is an unambiguous restatement of the federal statute and regulations.

In summary, valid federal and state statutes, regulation and rules consistently mandate that a state agency making Medicaid eligibility determinations may never count the income of a relative, such as a brother, sister, or niece, as being available to a child-applicant.

Federal and state agencies (as is true in the present

case) have adopted the position that in determining the Medicaid eligibility of children, state agencies must apply the financial eligibility requirements of the State's Aid to Families With Dependent Children (A.F.D.C.) plan. Under the amendments to Title IV of the Social Security Act (covering A.F.D.C.), made by the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984 (D.E.F.R.A.) P.L. 98-369, §2640, an eligibility determination for a dependent child must count income available to a brother or sister. 42 U.S.C. §602(a)(38). The Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, in reliance of the change made by DEFRA, has also required state agencies to count sibling income in any determination of eligibility for Medicaid benefits under Title XIX. The federal and state agencies have argued that this interpretation of DEFRA by the Secretary is entitled to such great weight as to be dispositive of the issue of the conflicting statutes and regulations.

The problems with this position are readily apparent. Through DEFRA, Congress may have expressed its intent to amend eligibility requirements for AFDC benefits under Title IV of the Social Security Act, but it expressed no similar intent to change any part of Title XIX of the Act dealing with Medicaid benefits. Indeed, §1396a(a)(17)(D) is still a viable and unamended section of Title XIX and clearly denies the states any right to include relatives' income (other than that of a spouse or parent) in eligibility determinations. And, although the Secretary's in-

terpretation of statutes are entitled to some weight, he cannot ignore clear statutory authority absolutely barring his interpretation. The Secretary's interpretation, in any event, ignores the Secretary's own regulations, which state at 42 C.F.R. §435.113

[t]he agency must provide Medicaid to individuals who would be eligible for AFDC except for an eligibility requirement used in that program that is specifically prohibited under Title XIX. (Emphasis supplied)

Every decision, except the present one from the Seventh Judicial District, has rejected the position of the federal and state agencies and upheld the plain meaning of §1396a(a)(17)(D). In Vance v. Hegstrom (1986 9th Cir.) 793 F.2d 1018, the Ninth Circuit observed of DEFRA

[t]he statute finally enacted by Congress which required states to include sibling income when determining AFDC eligibility is directed solely to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. §602, which is a component of the AFDC statute, and not to subsection (17)(D). (Emphasis supplied.)

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