1987

Jerry Grandson v. Suzanne Dandoy : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jerry Grandson, a minor child, applied for Medicaid benefits under Title XIX of the Social Security Act. He was denied Medicaid coverage because the total income for the family exceeded the basis maintenance standard (BMS) which governs eligibility. Mr. Grandson has challenged the calculation of his eligibility because the income of his co-resident siblings was included to determine his eligibility.

Section 1902(a)(10) of the Medicaid statute and attendant regulations clearly require that in determining Medicaid eligibility for families and children the financial eligibility requirements of the States AFDC plan must be applied.

Section 2640 of DEFRA is an AFDC financial eligibility requirement which requires the counting of income of parents and all minor children in one filing unit. A minor child can not file separately but must file as part of an AFDC filing unit.

Although a very strict construction of subsection 17(D) of the 1965 Medicaid Act says that states should not take into account the financial responsibility of any individual for the applicant except the spouse or child who is under 21, the Congressional record shows that Subsection 17(D) was not intended to prevent the inclusion of all members of a nuclear family household from being considered as one filing unit when determining eligibility.

Furthermore, Subsection 17(B) of the same statute granted authority to the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (hereinafter "Secretary") to determine when income was considered "available" for eligibility determination purposes. The Secretary has informed the all states and specifically, Utah Department of Health that the income of parents and minor children living together should be counted as "available" to that filing unit. This direction is not only within the Secretary's authority but also mandated by Congress. The Secretary's determination is also entitled to great deference if not legislative effect.

The 1984 Congress was aware that Medicaid eligibility is governed by AFDC financial eligibility requirements and intended to impact both programs by amending those requirements with the DEFRA provisions. Though this retargeting of scarce public resources results in some individuals, including Jerry Grandson, being ineligible to receive Medicaid benefits without paying the BMS excess, others that were previously ineligible will now be eligible, and a net increase in those eligible for Medicaid is expected. This "retargeting" is clearly within the authority of Congress.

In addition, Section 2640 DEFRA removes the bar prohibiting Social Security benefits which are paid to a representative payee from being counted as available to the AFDC unit. Because Medicaid eligibility is tied to the AFDC filing unit, the bar is also removed for calculating Medicaid eligibility.

The issues in this case have been carefully considered by a hearing office for the Department of Health and his decision was affirmed by the Executive Director. In addition, Judge Bunnell of the the 7th District reviewed the Final Determination pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 26-23-2 (1953) and affirmed the decision because he found that the final determination was not capricious and supported by the evidence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SECTION 17(D), THE MEDICAID FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY PROVISION, WAS NOT INTENDED TO PREVENT CONSIDERATION OF INCOME OF ALL MEMBERS OF A NUCLEAR FAMILY HOUSEHOLD IN DETERMINING MEDICAID ELIGIBILITY.

Jerry Grandson argues that DEFRA Section 2640(a), as set forth above should not apply to Medicaid eligibility determinations because of a provision in the Medicaid statute which provides that a state Medicaid plan must include reasonable standards for determining eligibility which

do not take into account the financial responsibility of any individual for any applicant or recipient of assistance under the plan unless such applicant or recipient is such individual's spouse or such individual's child who is under 21 . . .

42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17)(D) (Addendum 5). (Hereafter referred to as "Section 17(D)").

Petitioner also cites the regulation promulgated pursuant to that provision which reiterates that prohibition.

In order to properly interpret Section 17(D) it is necessary to understand why it became part of the Medicaid statute passed by Congress in 1965. For the first time in 1960 Congress enacted federal medical assistance legislation, Pub. L. 86-778, which became commonly known as the "Kerr-Mills" program. Kerr-Mills made federal matching grants available to states which chose to develop a medical assistance program for needy elderly

persons who could not afford necessary medical care. By the time of Congress' action on the Social Security Amendments of 1965 which included Medicaid, the proponents of that legislation (and even many of its opponents) agreed that a more effective medical assistance program was needed than Kerr-Mills had shown itself to be. Title XIX, or Medicaid, was established "to provide a more effective Kerr-Mills medical assistance program for the aged and to extend its provisions to additional needy persons . . ." H.R. Rep. No. 213, 89th Cong., 1st Sess. 9, 63-64 (March 29, 1965) (Addendum 11).

One of the major problems with Kerr-Mills was that several states had passed financial responsibility laws that placed financial responsibilities for the care, including medical care, of needy elderly persons upon relatives such as brothers, sisters, children and grandchildren. Hence, if an elderly person was in need of medical care for which he was not able to pay, he was required to first turn to his relatives for assistance. Because Kerr-Mills was a program for the elderly, the relatives were, almost without exception, adults who had their own households to maintain. Rather than placing an additional burden on their relatives or facing the humiliation of calling on them for help, many of the needy elderly chose to forego needed medical care. For those needy elderly who did receive assistance under Kerr-Mills the burden on family members was often extreme.

Additionally, in cases where emergency care was rendered to the needy, hospital collection departments sought satisfaction from the relatives listed in the particular statute.

Senator McNamara's Subcommittee on Health of the Elderly had reported in 1963:

The aged applicant filing for MAA [Medical Assistance for the Aged] in a State which utilizes family responsibility provisions, thereby, in effect, may subject members of his family to a means test -- apart from himself.

In all probability, no other condition attached to application for MAA is as upsetting as the requirement that relatives be investigated and interviewed to determine their ability to contribute toward the health expenses of the applicant for MAA. It is not that families are unwilling to take care of their own. Relatives of the applicant may have already been paying a substantial part of the living expenses of their older relative(s). In some instances, MAA help is requested because the applicant knows that the finances of his family are already under heavy strain. When the older person learns that additional financial aid may be demanded on his family, frequently at what he knows will mean severe hardship, he may well and very often does, withdraw or refuse to make application and let his health needs go unmet.

"Medical Assistance for the Aged, the Kerr-Mills Program 1960 - 1963, " Report by the Subcommittee on Health of the Elderly to the Special Committee on Aging (Committee Print 1963), at 31 (Addendum 12). The subcommittee also noted the heavy administrative costs, in which the federal government participated in pursuing collection of the hospital bills from legally responsible relatives. Id. at 32. As a result, the sub-

committee concluded that "a rather persuasive case has been made for congressional consideration of an amendment to the Kerr-Mills Act which would confine the application of family responsibility provision, in those states using such provisions, to the applicant and/or his spouse." *Id.* at 32-33 (emphasis added).

When the Medicaid bill was debated upon the floor of the House, members consistently reiterated that the "financial responsibility" limitation on considering income from relatives, as well as the entire program of Medicare and Medicaid, was intended to preclude states shifting the financial burden of helping the elderly poor to their adult children who had families of their own to support. *See* , *e.g.* , 111 Cong. Rec. H7201 et. seq. daily ed. April 7, 1965 (Addendum 13).

For example, Congressman Secrest indicated that under the expanded Kerr-Mills each "indigent old person will be judged by his own resources. The income of his children will no longer bar him from benefits." *Id.* at H7244.

The House Ways and Means Committee report to the House indicated:

Your committee has heard of hardship on certain individuals by requiring them to provide support and to pay for the medical care needed by relatives. Your committee believes it is proper to expect spouses to support each other and parents to be held accountable for the support of their minor children. . . Such requirements for support may reasonably include the payment by such relative, if able, for medical care. Beyond such degree of relationship, however, requirements

imposed [by some states under Kerr-Mills] are often destructive and harmful to the relationship among members of the family group. Thus, States, may not include in their plans provisions for requiring contributions from relatives other than a spouse or the parent of a minor child . . . Any contributions actually made by relatives or friends, or from other sources will be taken into account by the State in determining whether the individual applying for medical assistance is, in fact, in need of such assistance.

H.R. Rep. No. 213 89th Cong. 1st Sess. p. 68, March 29, 1965
(Addendum 11).

Similar comments were made when the bill came before the Senate.

From the foregoing it is clear that Section 17(D) was intended to lift the burden of medical care expenses from adult relatives, and that the Congress intended that those beyond the degree of relationship of spouse or of parents and minor children should not be called upon to expend their resources to satisfy that burden before a needy person could qualify for Medicaid. There is no indication that Congress ever considered the income of minor children.

POINT II

THE SECRETARY'S DIRECTIVE THAT THE INCOME OF ALL MEMBERS OF THE HOUSEHOLD FILING UNIT SHOULD BE CONSIDERED TO BE "AVAILABLE" FOR MEDICAID ELIGIBILITY PURPOSES WAS WITHIN THE BOUNDS OF HER AUTHORITY AND IN ACCORD WITH APPLICABLE LAW.

In the above-cited report the House Ways and Means Committee set forth a further reason for not counting assets of

relatives who are beyond the degree of spouse or of parent to minor child. At p. 67 of that report the Committee indicated:

. . . These provisions are designed so that the States will not assume the availability of income which may not, in fact, be available. Examples of income assumed include support orders from absent fathers, which have not been paid, or contributions from relatives which are not in reality received by the needy individual. . .

P. 67 (Emphasis added.)

Realizing the Congressional concern of not counting income which may not, in fact, be "available" it is significant to note that Congress placed the responsibility of determining when income and resources are to be considered "available" upon the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Section 1902(a)(17)(B) enacted in 1965 as a part of the same Title XIX Medicaid Section upon which Petitioner relies (i.e. 17(D)), explicitly authorizes that "such income and resources as are, as determined in accordance with standards prescribed by the Secretary, available to the applicant or recipient" shall be taken into account in determining Medicaid eligibility. Section 1902(a)(17)(B) of the Social Security Act -- now codified as 42 U.S.C. 1396a(a)(17)(B), and hereafter referred to as "17(B)".

In relation to the Secretary's authority to determine when income and resources are "available" the Supreme Court has stated:

The Social Security Act is among the most intricate ever drafted by Congress. Its Byzantine construction . . . makes the Act "almost unintelligible to the uninitiated." [citation omitted] Perhaps appreciating the complexity of what it had wrought, Congress conferred on the Secretary exceptionally broad authority to prescribe standards for applying certain sections of this Act. . .

In view of [the] explicit delegation of substantive authority [to prescribe standards under section 1902(a)(17)(B)], the Secretary's definition of the term "available" is "entitled to more than mere deference or weight." [citing Batterton v. Francis]. Rather, the Secretary's definition is entitled to "legislative effect" because, "[i]n a situation of this kind, Congress entrusts to the Secretary, rather than to the courts, the primary responsibility for interpreting the statutory term."

Schweiker v. Gray Panthers, 101 S.Ct. at 2640. The Gray Panthers court declared that, unless the Secretary exceeded her statutory authority or is arbitrary and capricious, her promulgation of standards with respect to section 17(B) must be upheld. Here, the Medicaid standard as interpreted by the Secretary is that income available to any member of the public assistance filing unit is "available" for purposes of section 17(B).

In the present case, not only has the Secretary determined that the income and resources of brothers and sisters of a dependent child who live in the same household should be counted as "available"; the Congress itself has also expressed that intention. After proposing DEFRA §2640 which effected that intent, the Senate Finance Committee explained that provision as follows:

This change . . . will ensure that the income of family members who live together and share expenses is recognized and counted as available to the family as a whole.

S. Rep. No. 300, 98th Cong., 2d Sess. 165 (1983) (emphasis added) (Addendum 14); Senate Committee Print 98-169, Vol. I, "Deficit Reduction Act of 1984, Explanation of Provisions Approved by the Committee on March 21, 1984" (Senate Committee on Finance, April 2, 1984), at pp. 980-981.

Thus Congress concluded that the income of those family members living together and sharing expenses should be counted as available in assessing the financial condition of that family unit. Congress recognized the reality that the income of a particular sibling member of that family unit is used by the head of household for necessities, many of which are of direct benefit to all members of the family unit, including important contributions to the shelter cost of rent, food costs, utility costs and other household expenses. The sibling with income lives with the family and receives the benefit of his income in the family household. In addition, the sibling with income does not merely contribute such income to the unit, but becomes an added member of the unit for purposes of determining its level of need based upon family size. Thus, the sibling child brings with him or her into the unit both his or her income and resources and his or her needs which must be met. Congress directed that states should assess both for all mandated members of the filing

unit, parent, child and siblings, as a realistic family household.

Therefore, the decision of the Utah Department of Health that the income of Jerry Grandson's sisters who reside in the same household should be considered to be "available" for Medicaid eligibility determination purposes was in accord with the mandate of the Secretary. The Secretary's mandate was pursuant to a power that was specifically authorized, and a duty that was specifically assigned, by Congress. The Supreme Court has indicated that the Secretary's determination as to availability is entitled to legislative effect. Furthermore the Secretary's determination relative to the instant case can hardly be considered beyond her statutory authority since it is exactly what Congress itself has required. Hence the Final Determination of the Executive Director is not capricious and the 7th District correctly affirmed her decision.

POINT III

THE DEFRA PROVISION WAS INTENDED TO AFFECT MEDICAID ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATIONS.

Petitioner argues that the DEFRA provision set forth above applies only to AFDC eligibility determination and not to Medicaid. Section 1902(a)(10) of the Medicaid Act and the regulations enacted pursuant to it require that the eligibility of the Medicaid categorically needy be determined by application of the financial eligibility requirements of AFDC. Section

1902(a)(17)(B) requires that income available to a Medicaid claimant, as determined under standards prescribed by the Secretary, be counted in determining eligibility for Medicaid.

The DEFRA provision provides that the financial eligibility of a child for AFDC whose siblings are dependent children living in the same home must be determined by including the parent and such siblings of the child in the public assistance filing unit and considering as available the income of each members of the household unit.

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